DELAWARE FOOD DISTRIBUTION HANDBOOK

Office of Management and Budget Government Support Services Federal Food Commodities Program



STATE OF DELAWARE OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

Government Support Services
Federal Food Commodities Program
2420 Old Battery Lane
P.O. Box 299
Delaware City, DE 19706

Phone: (302) 834-4512

Fax: (302) 836-7642

FOOD DISTRIBUTION SECTION

Peter Korolyk

Director Government Support Services

Michael Bacu

Deputy Director Government Support Services

Teresa Youngcourt

Federal Food Program Manager

Dan Ramsey

Warehouse and Operations Manager

Jason Kilgore

Management Analyst

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL PROGRAM INFORMATION	1
Program History and Background	1
Program Types	2
Allocating Commodities	3
Commodity Origination	4
Food Delivery	5
PROGRAM-RELATED WEBSITES	5
Federal Food Commodities Program Nutrition Website	5
USDA Commodity Programs Website	5
American Commodity Distribution Association	5
Food Safety and Inspection Service Website	5
U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission Website	5
SERVICE FEES AND BILLING	6
STORAGE AND HANDLING	6
Storage Conditions	6
Temperature	6
Air Circulation	6
Rotating Commodities	6
Stacking	7
Protection of Foods in Storage	7
Storage Guide for USDA Donated Foods Error! Bookmark not def	ïned.
FOOD ALERTS	7

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRODUCT COMPLAINT GUIDELINES	8
Disposal of Out-of-Condition Foods	10
CLAIM DETERMINATIONS	11
Responsibilities for Claims Actions Error! E	Bookmark not defined.
INVENTORY RECORDS	11
Inventory Recordkeeping	11
APPLICANT ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATIONS	13
Eligibility Record Keeping	15
Commodity Issuance Record Keeping	16
ORDERING PROCEDURES	16
AGREEMENTS	17
Food Management Companies	17
DISASTER FEEDING	17
COMMODITIES IN SCHOOLS	18
Use Of Commodities In Courses/Classes	18
Sale Of Commodities In Schools	18
FOOD PROCESSING	19
ON-GOING COMMUNICATION	19
MONITORING AND COMPLIANCE	21
Compliance Requirements	21
Civil Rights Requirements	21

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Nondiscrimination Assurances	21
	Filing Complaints	22
	Reporting Requirements	22
	Agency Reviews	23
	Civil Rights Compliance Review	24
	Food Distribution Program Review	24
FOR	MS	24
GLO	SSARY	25
	Product Complaint Form	. 29
	TEFAP Eligibility Form for Take Home Foods	35
	Customer Discrimination Complaint Form	37
	Civil Rights Compliance Review Form	38
	Directions to the FOOD WAREHOUSE	39
	Loss of USDA Donated Foods: Loss By Fire	36
	Loss of USDA Donated Foods: Loss By Theft	37
	Loss of USDA Donated Foods: Loss By Refrigerator/Freezer Failure	38
	Loss of USDA Donated Foods: Loss By Infestation/Spoilage/Contamination	on 39
	Perpetual Inventory Form for USDA Commodities	40

GENERAL PROGRAM INFORMATION

Through various Food Distribution Programs, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) provides food, otherwise known as commodities or USDA Foods to help meet the nutritional needs of children and adults. By law, the USDA acquires agricultural commodities through price support programs, surplus removal, and direct purchase programs from national markets to provide nutritious high quality commodities to recipient agencies (RAs) and needy families. The USDA pays for the initial processing and packaging of the food and for transporting it to designated points within each State. State Distributing Agencies (SDAs) are then responsible for storing the food, transporting it throughout the State, and distributing it at the local level to eligible recipient organizations in the various food programs.

In Delaware, the Office of Management and Budget, Government Support Services, Federal Food Commodities Program (FFCP) is the State Agency responsible for administration of the various USDA commodity programs. The non-commodity areas of the various Child Nutrition programs are administered by the Department of Education.

Program History and Background

Through its commodity programs, the United States Department of Agriculture has been providing food to people and assistance to farmers since 1935. The Great Depression, which left millions of families without purchasing power and the nation's farmers without a market for their products, was the driving force behind the first piece of legislation that initiated the Food Distribution Program. This law authorized removal of surplus perishable foods and helped to stabilize prices. In 1946, the National School Lunch Act provided funds for the purchase of commodities for schools to improve the health and well-being of the nation's youth.

The National School Lunch and School Breakfast Programs continue to be the primary outlet for commodity foods. Throughout the ensuing years, other laws have been passed to include other categories as recipients of donated foods. In addition to school children, other recipients of USDA donated foods include meals for senior citizens, household commodities for needy families and commodities to organizations that serve the needy. Commodities are also an important resource in time of disasters, both for meals for people in shelters and for short-term household use.

The Federal Food Commodities Program (FFCP) orders food from the USDA based on recipient agency preferences. After the USDA purchases it, it is shipped to our warehouse for delivery to recipients. The warehouse is located on state property in Delaware City. In 1990, the FFCP built a state-of-the-art food warehouse. Food is delivered to our agencies by refrigerated tractor trailers. During FY 2023, the FFCP distributed over 5 million pounds of food with a value of over \$ 7 million dollars from the state warehouse. The volume of food allocated to our state is based on the number of meals served by recipient agencies.

The form and quality of the commodities for the child nutrition programs have improved substantially during the past decade. Commodities purchased for these programs have to be nutritionally sound, but also appeal to school children's changing tastes. The "fast food" world that kids now inhabit has transformed school lunches. Gone are the days of beef stew and meat loaf. Now they demand chicken nuggets, steak sandwiches and pizza.

In addition to desirable commodities such as turkey roasts, beef patties, sliced cheese, fruits and vegetables, the FFCP contracts with several vendors that process commodities such as whole chickens into products like chicken nuggets. We also have ground beef into sandwich steaks, meatballs, etc. Tanker trucks of eggs are made into breakfast products. Fruits are converted into frozen fruit bars and sorbets and cheese into pizza and cheese sauce. The schools receive a discount for the value of the USDA commodity through commercial distributors and are billed the Net Off Invoice (NOI) price for the products.

The USDA also provides food to smaller programs, such as the Summer Food Service Program that provides meals to school-aged children during the summer months. Many children go hungry or lack nutritious meals when they are not in school; this program helps to alleviate the situation. The USDA also provides commodities for the Nutrition Program for the Elderly, which provides nutritious meals for senior citizens throughout the state at senior centers.

The Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP) helps supplement the diets of low-income Americans by providing them with emergency food and nutrition assistance at no cost. This program originated in the early 80's as a short-term program to disburse huge quantities of butter, cheese and other surplus items that had been held in storage by the USDA. These items were distributed to needy people through a network of volunteer organizations. After the stocks of the surplus items were depleted, the program was changed to one that primarily assisted those with the greatest need. The commodities are now distributed to shelters, soup kitchens, pantries and other emergency feeding organizations. These foods are packaged in household sizes and depend on agricultural conditions, but usually include a variety of canned fruits, vegetables, peanut butter, pasta, cereals and meat and poultry items.

Another important use for commodity foods is during disasters. Commodities are provided for mass feeding at shelters and other sites. If the normal commercial food supply is disrupted, commodity foods can also be distributed to households. Commodities can be shipped to a disaster location from all areas of the country.

Program Types

National School Lunch Program (NSLP): The NSLP is designed to provide a nutritionally balanced meal for children attending public or private nonprofit schools and residential child care institutions (RCCIs). Participating RAs receive commodities for eligible meals served. The School Breakfast Program (SBP) operates under the same eligibility criteria as the NSLP.

Summer Food Service Program (SFSP): This program was established to ensure that needy children would be able to receive meals during the summer months similar to those provided during the school year by the NSLP.

Nutrition Services Incentive Program (NSIP) (formerly Nutrition Program for the Elderly): This program was designed to help improve the nutritional well-being of people over the age of 60. In Delaware, cash or commodities are provided for congregate meal sites and meals on wheels programs.

The Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP): This program makes available surplus and supplemental foods to the homeless and needy households distributed through a network of shelters, soup kitchens, food banks and other emergency feeding organizations.

The Commodity Supplemental Food Program (CSFP): The CSFP works to improve the health of elderly people age 60 years and older. CSFP participants must meet federal and state eligibility criteria in order to receive monthly food packages.

Allocating Commodities

Commodities distributed by the USDA vary, depending on what food products are available and the programs being served. USDA determines the types and amounts of commodities. The USDA buys more than one hundred types of food. In addition, the USDA specifies only high grades of commodities and upgrades those specifications regularly.

Since there is a limited amount of donated food, federal laws require that commodities in the National School Lunch Program (NSLP) be allocated to each state based on the **actual number of meals** that were served to eligible recipients the previous year. TEFAP commodities are allocated by a formula based on the state's poverty and unemployment levels. The total portion of commodities that each state receives is called the **entitlement.**

Entitlement is defined as the dollar value of the commodities to be distributed that year. Each of the commodity programs administered by Delaware has its own entitlement. The dollar value for commodities is based on market prices and the costs for transportation and preliminary food processing. Delaware's entitlements are then further allocated among the eligible agencies in each program, and a cash value level of assistance (entitlement) is established for each agency. The cash value of each allocation of entitlement commodities is deducted from the annual entitlement.

RAs are not required to take all commodities offered. Only those commodities that can be adequately stored and efficiently utilized within a year of receipt should be ordered.

Commodity Origination

The USDA buys commodities based on market conditions. They take into account the amounts of food in the marketplace, their prices, and the types of food available at a given time. Alternatively, agencies are required to supply feedback to the USDA in the form of inventories, surveys, and food preference reports so they can better weigh local needs and preferences.

Food preference reports and the USDA Foods Available Lists are sent to most agencies each year so they can provide feedback to the State Distributing Agency. Agencies are asked to indicate their opinions regarding the acceptability, quality, and packaging of a variety of USDA commodities.

In addition to selecting commodity foods with entitlement dollars, Delaware works in partnership with the Food Bank of Delaware to offer excess bonus foods and all available fresh produce for direct delivery to the Food Bank's Newark and Milford locations. The Food Bank has significantly more refrigerated storage than the state warehouse and is able to directly distribute fresh produce more quickly than the monthly deliveries currently provided by the State of Delaware staff.

The agencies are also asked to indicate the maximum amount of a commodity that they could use in a year. Schools and NSIPs may also be surveyed throughout the year about a particular commodity. Since entitlement dollars are limited, interest in and use of a commodity needs to be high enough to order it.

Allocating and Ordering and Accepting Commodities

When the USDA offers a commodity to the State, the Food Distribution office bases its acceptance upon the food preference surveys, prior year usage and inventory results. The Food Distribution office also takes into account and plans for other expected commodities that agencies find desirable so there will be enough entitlement dollars remaining to order them. Food Distribution office places orders in USDA's ordering system, Web Based Supply Chain Management (WBSCM). When orders are received at the State Warehouse or the Food Bank of Delaware, Shipment Receipts must be entered in WBSCM within 2 calendar days.

Upon receipt at the state warehouse, shipments are entered into the Food Distribution Program https://www.cnpwebsite.com/delaware/Login.aspx website and allocated to recipient agencies on a "fair share" basis. All agencies have online access to this system and can accept up to any amount allocated or refuse a part or all of the allocation through the system. Each school district or agency is set up in the program with one or more delivery locations to receive monthly deliveries from August through June of the fiscal year. The agency should also indicate how much of the commodity it wants delivered during each of the offered months.

All orders must be placed no later than five business days prior to the scheduled delivery date. Any changes can be requested by contacting the Food Program office at 302-838-8061 but will only be accommodated if logistically possible.

Delivery tickets are then prepared for each location and loads are sorted and arranged into bills of lading. Delivery dates are assigned for the entire year in July for the next fiscal year and are available to recipient agencies in the Food Distribution Program. School districts are requested to provide their approved school calendars for the following year as soon as available to assist in planning their deliveries. All schools and recipient agencies are required to notify us as soon as possible of closures that would prevent receiving their planned deliveries. Closures due to emergencies such as inclement weather will be rescheduled as soon as practically possible.

Food Delivery

When a delivery is made to an agency, agencies are required to have personnel available to accept the delivery and to check and make sure that the quantities and foods delivered are the ones listed on the delivery ticket. Also, they should be available to check and see that all food is in good condition, and not spoiled or damaged. If any part of the delivery is in question, it should be rejected or conditionally accepted with the information noted on the delivery documents that are signed by both the receiver of the commodities and the delivery person.

All information relative to food orders and deliveries is available at all times on the Food Distribution Program Website http://foodprogram.delaware.gov.

Program-Related Websites

Federal Food Commodities Program Nutrition Website

- http://foodprogram.delaware.gov
- Requires user ID and password

USDA Commodity Programs Website

- www.fns.usda.gov/usda-foods
- This website has information about programs and commodity fact sheets.

American Commodity Distribution Association

http://www.commodityfoods.org

Food Safety and Inspection Service Website

- http://www.fsis.usda.gov
- This website provides food safety education and consumer information.

U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission Website

- http://www.eeoc.gov
- This website provides laws, regulations and policy guidance.

SERVICE FEES AND BILLING

Although USDA food is free, with the exception of TEFAP agencies, which are subsidized by the government, each agency must pay service charges to cover the cost of program administration, storage and distribution.

A late fee will be assessed if payment is not made within 30 days of billing. If payments are more than 60 days late, agencies will not be permitted to receive food until paid in full.

Additional fees include charges for deliveries to the same location more than once per month.

STORAGE AND HANDLING

Storage Conditions

In order to guarantee its quality and safety, each agency is responsible for the careful storage and handling of donated food. Premature deterioration of commodities is often the result of haphazard storage conditions and practices. Although the USDA provides storage guidelines, each Agency should also be familiar with local codes since, in some cases, state and local health regulations may supercede the USDA regulations.

Temperature

To maintain product quality, food must be stored at the proper temperature. The Commodity Fact Sheet for each food specifies its proper storage temperature. Fact sheets are available from the USDA website, which can be accessed at www.fns.usda.gov/usda-foods, or by calling the Federal Food Commodities Program office at (302) 834-4512 or (302) 838-8061.

Frozen and refrigerated food requires special attention. The temperature of freezers (and coolers) must be checked and recorded frequently. Power losses present particular problems, and temperatures need to be watched and noted to see that the quality and safety of frozen and/or refrigerated foods is maintained.

Air Circulation

Air circulation is important for frozen or chilled foods as well as for food held in dry storage. Commodities must be stacked on pallets or shelves with:

- At least four inches of wall and floor clearance; and
- Two feet of ceiling clearance.

Rotating Commodities

Certain standard storage practices will help maintain the quality in stored commodities. The practice known as First In, First Out (FIFO) refers to the order in which commodities are used.

Page

6

Food must be stored and rotated so that the cases with the oldest pack dates are in front and used first. All USDA commodities have the pack date or contract number on the cases. If cases are split, the can or containers should be marked individually with the pack date.

Stacking

The basic rules for stacking commodities are:

- Limit the height of the stack so that cases of foods on the bottom layers are not crushed.
- Cross-stack the cases of commodities to ensure that the stack will be steady and solid.
- ♦ Stack commodities away from sources of heat or steam.

Protection of Foods in Storage

Finally, here are a few common sense ways to protect USDA food and maintain it in good condition:

- Check food regularly for signs of deterioration. Inspect stored food supplies for torn sacks and broken cartons. If any are found, repackage the food that is still in good condition. If the food has deteriorated, it should be destroyed according to regulations.
- Maintain storage areas and freezers/coolers in a clean and orderly manner.
- Exterminate monthly, more often if necessary.
- Store food away from pesticides, cleaning supplies, and paper products.
- ♦ Store food to prevent theft.
- ♦ Please refer to the following website for USDA food storage guidelines https://www.fns.usda.gov/usda-foods/best-practices-handle-and-store-usda-foods-home

FOOD ALERTS

Despite careful inspection and numerous quality controls, potentially unhealthy foods sometimes find their way into the market and USDA warehouses. A food alert is called when tainted or dangerous foods are discovered. It is serious business. Full cooperation is expected by authorities at all levels – federal, state, and local – to identify and hold suspected food. Food alert information is generally disseminated as follows:

1) The USDA Regional Office is notified of a food alert.

- 2) The USDA Regional Office notifies Delaware's Federal Food Commodities Program.
- 3) The Federal Food Commodities Program, in turn, notifies the Agencies not to use a specific commodity until further notice. A network of State Distributing Agency Emergency Coordinators makes sure that all Agencies are alerted immediately about the potentially dangerous food.
- 4) When the food alert is over and commodities can be released, the USDA Regional Office notifies the Federal Food Commodities Program in writing.

PRODUCT COMPLAINT GUIDELINES

The Department makes every effort to ensure that commodities provided through the Food Distribution Program are nutritious and of the highest quality. However, as in food business, recipients may encounter a few problems such as foreign matter in canned green beans or inferior spaghetti packaging. This is known as "out-of-condition" foods. When this happens, recipients may file a complaint directly with the State of Delaware, Food Distribution Program.

Out-of-condition foods fall into two categories – dangerous and non-threatening. These guidelines address what action an Agency should take right away.

◆ **Dangerous:** When conditions present a health hazard to food stored nearby – exploding cans and infestation of grain products, for example – the Agency may destroy the food after an authorized federal, state or local inspector has confirmed the problem.

Dangerous out-of-condition food must be disposed of in accordance with state and local laws and USDA regulations. The Federal Food Commodities Program must be notified in writing within 30 days.

When foreign matter such as metal or glass is found, there is potential for widespread injury. Agencies must report such food immediately to the Federal Food Commodities Program.

♦ Non-threatening: When conditions do not present a health hazard – broken bags of food, for example – the Agency should segregate the food until it can be inspected by the USDA or the local health department and a decision is made about how to handle it.

Agencies are required to file a written complaint regarding "out-of-condition" foods to the Federal Food Commodities Program using the **Product Complaint Form.** The following information should be included:

- Name and code number of the commodity (e.g., A358110C003)
- ♦ Number of cases or bags on hand
- Nature of the complaint
- ♦ How the loss occurred

In general, if an agency is seeking a replacement, keep the product until you have been notified by the Federal Food Commodities Program as to what to do with it.

For food losses under \$500 per incident, the food may be disposed of. Once the Product Complaint Form has been filed, the inventory will be adjusted.

For **TEFAP** agencies, there are also more detailed forms available for completion:

- Loss of USDA Donated Foods Form: Loss by Fire
- Loss of USDA Donated Foods Form: Loss by Infestation/Spoilage/Contamination
- Loss of USDA Donated Foods Form: Loss by Refrigerator/Freezer Failure
- Loss of USDA Donated Foods Form: Loss by Theft

Once the Product Complaint Form has been filed, the Federal Food Commodities Program will handle it as follows:

Dangerous

- All issues of this nature will be resolved immediately.
- The Federal Food Commodities Program will confirm the problem by visiting the recipient agency registering the complaint or by checking other food of the same product, lot number and date that remains in the warehouse.
- Depending on the result, the Federal Food Commodities Program will advise the recipient agency as to how to handle the product(s) in question (e.g., throw out, use, return).
- The Federal Food Commodities Program will determine the extent of the issue as it relates to other recipient agencies that may have received the same product and advise them immediately by phone as to how to handle the product in question; all agencies will be advised to handle the product in question in the same manner.
- For food losses under \$500 per incident, the inventory will be adjusted without product inspection.

ge 9

Non-threatening

- For food losses under \$500 per incident, the inventory will be adjusted without product inspection.
- For food losses over \$500 per incident, the loss must be reported to the USDA Regional Office immediately to determine next steps.
 - o Resolve any issues or concerns with the recipient agency.
 - o Determine liability.
 - o Adjust the inventory accordingly.

If for any reason you require additional information, recipient agencies may also contact the USDA as follows:

- 1. Commodity Complaint Hotline 1-800-446-6991
- 2. Email: USDA-FNS-CommodityComplaints@FNS.USDA.GOV
- 3. Fax (703) 305-1410 or (703) 305-2420, or
- 4. Regular mail: US Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service, Food Distribution Division, 3101 Park Center Drive, Alexandria, VA 22302

You should provide the following information:

- A description of the problem
- Date the product was received
- Location of the product
- How much product is involved
- Packing information and Lot Number

If you are seeking a replacement, you should keep the product until you have been notified what to do with it.

Disposal of Out-of-Condition Foods

Agencies should dispose of out-of-condition foods by obliterating the labels from cartons and adulterating the food so that it will not mistakenly be used. The USDA recommends pouring bleach on contaminated foods.

CLAIM DETERMINATIONS

While some food losses are unavoidable, some are the result of improper storage and handling. Agencies may be held responsible for food losses that could have been avoided with proper management. If negligence is determined, the following claim actions may result.

♦ Entitlement Foods – At the discretion of the Federal Food Commodities Program, an Agency may replace entitlement foods with like or similar items; or, an Agency may be required to pay for the value of the lost food.

Please refer to USDA's FNS Instruction 410-1 Revision 2. Claims for Losses of Donated Foods and Related Administrative Losses-Procedures for the State Distributing Agency located here https://fns-prod.azureedge.us/sites/default/files/FNS-410.pdf

INVENTORY RECORDS

Inventory Recordkeeping

Child Nutrition Agencies

Agencies must maintain accurate records about USDA commodities, including complete inventories. Good inventory procedures are closely related to menu planning, timely ordering of foods, and prevention of waste by careful supervision of stored commodities.

The U. S. Department of Agriculture offered States the opportunity to use a single inventory record keeping system for the Child Nutrition programs beginning with the school year 2001-02. This is in conjunction with a USDA initiative to allow vendors to use commercial labels rather than USDA labels on commodities. This was piloted in 1996 in the household programs and is being expanded into Child Nutrition (CN) programs since the practice has demonstrated a cost savings.

With the loss of visual identification of commodities, it will be difficult for schools and other CN outlets to inventory commodity products separate from purchased products. Therefore, this method became effective with the 2001-02 school year.

For those districts that prefer to keep the inventories separate, they may still maintain two inventories for their own purposes; however, for financial reporting purposes, those districts will need to combine the value of both commodities and purchased products for USDA reporting.

The method used to determine the value of the commodities is made by the Federal Food Commodities Program. It is calculated as follows:

Commodity file value per case

+ Service fee per case

- + Processing fee per case (if applicable)
- = Total Commodity Value

These i3ndividual values plus the total value of each product are now printed on the shipping tickets that you receive at each delivery location.

Each School Food Authority (SFA) will determine what basis they will use to value their inventory. The different situations for inventory valuation are explained in the guidelines that follow.

TEFAP Agencies

Regulations require that all recipient agencies, including those participating in TEFAP, annually "take a physical inventory" which "shall be reconciled annually with the storage facility's inventory records and maintained on file. . ." (section 250.14(e). Further, regulations require that records be maintained "to document the receipt, disposal, and inventory of commodities received...." The following guidance applies both to organizations that prepare meals and to

those that distribute to households. They **do not** apply to organizations such as food banks, which distribute food to other organizations (e.g., soup kitchens or food pantries) rather than directly serving participants. Those organizations must continue to account for the quantity of each product they distribute to each organization.

The following are minimum inventory procedures required:

• The site maintains an ongoing record of TEFAP foods as they are received, taken out of inventory for program use, and lost to the program through damage or other cause;

OR

- The site staff takes a "physical inventory" that is, an actual count of all foods in inventory at the end of each inventory period. The physical inventory should be taken weekly, unless a site withdraws food from inventory less frequently. For sites which conduct mass distributions monthly or quarterly, for example, the inventory period should be lengthened to match the distribution schedule. If a site withdraws commodities from inventory on an ongoing basis and handles a larger volume of USDA commodities, it would be more appropriate to conduct the physical inventory at the end of each day during which the site operates.
- The site must subtract the ending inventory and any damaged foods from the beginning inventory for the period. This leaves foods used in the program during the period. For example, at the beginning of the week, 35 cases of orange juice were on hand. During the week, a case of orange juice is discovered in which all of the cans are leaking. At the end of the week, the site counts two cases of usable orange juice, plus the damaged case. It records program use of 32 cases of orange juice. It also records the one case that cannot be used in the program. The beginning inventory of usable product for the following week is two cases. (This method may work best for the smallest food pantries, which maintain very limited inventories, and for mass distribution sites, which distribute food infrequently.)

TEFAP umbrella organizations, such as food banks that deal with food pantries and soup kitchens, are required to provide the training and oversight necessary to ensure that adequate inventory controls and security are in place at the site level.

Applicant Eligibility Determinations

Non-TEFAP Agencies

Schools, Nutrition Programs for the Elderly and Disaster Organizations can distribute food only to recipients eligible to receive them (needy persons, children, participants in nutrition programs for the elderly, disaster victims). If there are people such as teachers, disaster relief workers and staff members, who share common preparation, serving or dining facilities with eligible participants and those people are common beneficiaries with the eligible participants or are few in number compared to the eligible participants and receive their meals as an incident of their

service to eligible participants, then they can receive donated foods as well.

TEFAP Agencies

TEFAP foods can be used in two ways. They can be used to prepare meals that are served to a group. For example, a Salvation Army soup kitchen might use TEFAP foods in the meals it cooks and serves to participants (prepared meals). Program foods can also be given to eligible participants who then take them home for use by their families (household distribution). This is how food pantries use TEFAP foods.

Eligibility for household distribution:

- Recipients must reside in the State of Delaware at the time of application. The site
 <u>cannot</u> require households to have lived in the area for a specified period of time before
 they apply for TEFAP.
- If a single site both distributes food for home use and serves meals, it must conduct income eligibility determinations only for households receiving food to take home.
- Individual eligibility information must be gathered for household distribution. Regulations require that the FFCP establish "income-based standards and the methods by which households may demonstrate eligibility under such standards. . . ." In Delaware, eligibility can be determined by income standards or by participation in one or more other local, State, or Federal means-tested programs, such as Food Stamps, General Assistance, Medicaid and SSI. Participation in another program need not be independently verified. For example, since participants in the Food Stamp Program are automatically eligible for TEFAP, applicants can say that their household gets food stamps; they do not have to show a letter or other document to prove it.

 Regulations do not require that applicant households provide independent verification of income, for example, pay stubs.

2024 income eligibility (185% of poverty level) guidelines are as follows:

Household Size	Annual Income	Monthly Income	Weekly Income
1	27 , 861	2,322	536
2	37,814	3,152	728
3	47 , 767	3,981	919
4	57 , 720	4,810	1,110
5	67 , 673	5 , 640	1,302
6	77 , 626	6,469	1,493
7	87 , 579	7,299	1,685
8	97 , 532	8,128	1,876
For each additional family member add:	+9,953	+830	+192

Eligibility Record Keeping

Non-TEFAP Agencies

All Recipient Agencies are required to keep accurate and complete records showing the data and method used to determine the number of eligible persons served by that agency. These records should be kept for three years from the close of the fiscal year to which they pertain.

TEFAP Agencies

Regulations require that the distribution site collect "the name of the household member receiving the commodities, the address of the household (to the extent practicable – homeless persons may not be able to provide an address, but are still eligible if they meet the eligibility standards), the number of persons in the household, and the basis for determining that the household is eligible. . . ."

A form has been attached for use in determining eligibility to receive food for home use. Your site may be using another form that you use for TEFAP food as well as other donated food. It is now required to use the form that we have attached. The form should contain: the applicant's name, the number of persons in the household, and if practicable, the applicant's address; the box checked next to the program that makes the applicant eligible (after reviewing the income guidelines or means-tested programs listed); and, the applicant's signature and date the form has been completed. By signing, the applicant is **certifying** that his/her household is eligible by income and/or means-tested program, and that they live in Delaware.

• These completed forms should be retained by the distribution site for 4 years.

• For subsequent visits to a site that conducts household distribution, households are only required to sign a listing or log book documenting that they received TEFAP commodities. This should be completed for each visit to that site.

Commodity Issuance Record Keeping

TEFAP Agencies

Sites that conduct household distribution must keep a record, for each day on which they distribute food, of the names of all households that receive food. Site staff can meet this requirement by writing down the name of the household or placing a mark next to the household's name on a pre-printed list of eligible households.

It is **not necessary** to record the specific food distributed **to each individual household** – for example, two cans of green beans, two boxes of corn flakes, etc.

Ordering Procedures

Non-TEFAP Agencies

For non-TEFAP agencies, allocations are made based on the number of meals served to eligible participants the previous year. All ordering is done by the recipient agency online directly through the FFCP Nutrition Website. Orders can be made or changed up to five business days prior to the scheduled delivery date.

TEFAP Agencies

For TEFAP agencies, allocations are made based on an agency's average number of clients. When the Federal Food Commodities Program (FFCP) receives products, they are allocated to all the agencies in the program based on the agency's percent participation of the State's total. This will be done when the product is received at the FFCP warehouse.

The FFCP receives a dollar entitlement figure based on Delaware's low income and unemployment statistics. The FFCP can order foods offered for this program quarterly from the USDA up to the value of the entitlement. Delaware's entitlement figure is low, so mostly staples are ordered such as canned fruits, vegetables, cereals, etc. When meat products are offered, the FFCP tries to acquire them if there is still enough entitlement to cover the cost. The FFCP sometimes also receives "bonus" foods, which are foods purchased by the USDA to relieve agricultural markets. These are over and above the entitlement. In the past, some good bonus products have been received; including meats, but this is only when the USDA can purchase them for market relief.

All ordering is done by the recipient agency online directly through the FFCP Nutrition Website. Orders can be made or changed up to five business days prior to the scheduled delivery date.

Descriptions and nutritional value of most of the commodities are on the USDA website, which can be accessed at www.fns.usda.gov/fdd. Click on The Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP) and you will then be able to click on the Commodity Fact Sheets for that program.

AGREEMENTS

A signed agreement is required before any agency can receive USDA commodities. By signing, the agency accepts certain responsibilities. Highlights of the agreement include: accountability through careful record keeping; support of Civil Rights legislation; proper storage, disposition and use of USDA donated food; and acceptance of penalties for the improper use of commodities.

Food Management Companies

An agency may use a food management company to handle its food service program; however, a copy of the contract with that company must be included with the agreement. That contract must include these statements:

- (1) Any donated foods received by the agency and made available to the food service management company shall be used only for the benefit of the agency's feeding operation and shall be utilized therein; and
- (2) The books and records of the food service management company pertaining to the feeding operation of the agency shall be available for a period of three years, from the close of the federal fiscal year to which they pertain, for inspection and audit by representatives of the distributing agency, of the Department of Agriculture and of the General Accounting Office, at any reasonable time and place.

DISASTER FEEDING

Disasters are defined as natural events (hurricanes, tornadoes, storms, floods, high water, wind-driven water, tidal waves, earthquakes, drought, and fires) or man-made events (explosions, fires, riots, nuclear and chemical contamination). At these times, the USDA makes donated food available to disaster victims, usually through relief organizations such as the American Red Cross or Salvation Army, which prepare and serve meals from central locations. In some cases, food is given directly to households.

The Secretary of Agriculture is responsible for ensuring that adequate stocks of food are available for group feeding or household distribution in any area suffering from a major disaster or emergency. During a disaster, food that has been purchased by the USDA for use in the state's food programs is made available to disaster organizations in that state. Food that is stored in school or state warehouses can be used immediately. The USDA will replace this food. During disasters, the USDA field staff is also on hand to help carry out emergency relief measures.

COMMODITIES IN SCHOOLS

Use Of Commodities In Courses/Classes

Donated commodities may be used in teaching home economics, nutrition, food preparation, child care, health related activities, and in Nutrition Education and Training (NET) Program projects for training students (CFR Part 250.48(g)).

Sale of Commodities In Schools

Commodities are made available for the number of reimbursable meals served to children and should be used for the purpose of providing the components of those meals. Participating schools may sell donated commodities in their a la carte food service in the donated form or in processed or repackaged form. Commodities may be used for preparing food items for a la carte sales, as long as these same commodities or prepared items are served at some time during the year as a required component or side dish of the reimbursable meal.

Bonus commodities may be fully utilized in the food service program regardless of whether or not they are used as a component or side dish of the reimbursable meal. Funds derived from a la carte sales of items using any donated commodities must accrue to the nonprofit food service account.

Using the above information as reference, sample questions and answers regarding the use and sale of donated foods follow:

- **Q.** Can a school repackage and sell commodity raisins in the a la carte sales line?
- **A.** Yes, this is an appropriate use of commodities.
- **Q.** Can a school sell sweet rolls made with bonus flour in the teachers' lounge?
- **A.** No, this is not a meal service activity covered under the nonprofit school food service account.
- **Q.** Can a school use commodities to prepare banquets for school or non-school functions, such as banquets for a school's athletic team, cheerleaders, honor society, PTA, Chamber of Commerce, political rallies, etc.?
- A. No, these activities are not covered under the nonprofit school food service account.

DOD Fresh

In the 2021-2022 school year, Delaware began participating in the Department of Defense (DOD) Fresh program which utilizes NSLP entitlement dollars and allows schools to place weekly orders for fresh fruits and vegetables from the DOD awarded vendor. The minimum order per location is \$150. Orders are placed directly by the school districts and receipts must be entered within 7 calendar days. https://www.fns.usda.gov/usda-foods/fresh-fruits-and-vegetables-order-receipt-system-ffavors

FOOD PROCESSING

Many USDA commodities are more easily used in processed or prepackaged form. Food processing can take place at a number of stages. The USDA customarily processes certain foods before they are offered to states to allocate and distribute. For example, wheat is ground into flour, some of which is then made into varieties of pasta. Fresh fruits and vegetables are canned or frozen. Cheeses are produced from dairy products. These foods, to name a few, are packaged in standard sizes and shipped into the states. The USDA contracts and pays for this initial commercial processing.

State Contracted Processing – The Federal Food Commodities Program enters into a State Participation Agreement (SPA) with various food processors to process certain commodities into more usable end products. Commodities are shipped into the processors for Delaware directly from USDA for delivery by commercial distributors to schools which receive a discount for the value of the USDA food. This is known as the Net Off Invoice (NOI) method which is reflected on the invoice paid by the SFA. In order to remain a state approved processor, the vendor must utilize at least ½ truck of USDA foods annually due to USDA requirements regarding excessive inventories.

Processors Exiting USDA Commodity Processing – On occasion, approved USDA processors may elect to exit the program. When this occurs, the goal is to deplete any existing food inventory at the processor prior to the processor's program exit. The value of any remaining inventory may be transferred to another state which can use the inventory prior to program exit or refunded to the state. Transfer to other states is generally reserved for small value balances. Any inventory refund exceeding \$25,000 must be approved by the USDA Regional Office prior to depositing in the Donated Food Account. These funds must be utilized only to support approved child nutrition activities.

ON-GOING COMMUNICATION

Read every letter or memo from the Federal Food Commodities Program when it arrives and if possible, act on it immediately. It is often time sensitive. In many cases, the information requested is simple and straightforward and can be dealt with in minutes. Be sure to order USDA Commodities on the Food Distribution Program https://www.cnpwebsite.com/delaware/Login.aspx by the required date. This is essential for you to be able to receive your monthly food order.

All paperwork regarding the distribution of USDA food in Delaware must be kept for a period of three years beyond the current year.

There are various business aspects that are conveyed to recipient agencies on an ongoing basis to ensure they remain current on all issues related to the Delaware USDA Federal Food Commodities Program. Accordingly, the following outlines common customer communications.

Regulatory Updates

- On a monthly basis, all appropriate communications from the USDA will be forwarded to recipient agencies. This information will be received by one of the following methods, as appropriate:
 - o Direct Mail
 - o EMail

Handbooks

- On an **annual basis**, the Food Distribution Program Handbook will be updated with current information.
- Once the Handbooks are updated, they will be distributed to recipient agencies. This will be accomplished in any one of the following manners:
 - o EMail to all agencies

OR

 Posting on the Food Distribution section of the Government Support Services website

www.gss.omb.delaware.gov

Preference Requests

- On an **annual basis**, Preference Surveys are conducted. They are to be completed by the end of February each year to ensure that appropriate contracts and product requests are in place for the year. In addition, these surveys may also be conducted by special request.
- On an **annual basis**, survey results are to be compiled and forwarded to all recipient agencies.

New Customer Education

- When a new recipient agency or processor is approved, basic in-person training should be offered to all involved organizational personnel. Training should include the following:
 - Food Program background and history
 - o USDA regulations and requirements
 - o Food Program operating requirements
 - Nutrition Website use and guidelines
 - Reporting and recordkeeping
 - Food processing guidelines
 - Storage and handling of food
 - o Inventory requirements
 - Delivery procedures
 - o Customer claims/complaint processes
 - Customer service contacts

Existing Customer Education

- Existing customers should receive ongoing training and education when:
 - o Regulations change
 - o Food Program processes change
 - o Organizational personnel changes
 - o A problem or issue is detected during annual audits or reviews
 - o A customer service issue exists
 - Food processor information changes
 - o Food processing options change. (Must notify **annually**)

MONITORING AND COMPLIANCE

Compliance Requirements

In order to receive USDA donated foods, each agency must complete an agreement. By signing this contract with the State of Delaware, every agency agrees to comply with the Civil Rights and reporting requirements governing the Federal Food Commodities Program.

The agreements vary, depending on whether a recipient agency is authorized under the National School Lunch Program or under another program.

If contact or other material information for a recipient agency changes during the year, the FFCP must be notified immediately.

Civil Rights Requirements

To meet the Civil Rights requirements set by the Civil Rights Law of 1964 and its subsequent amendments, each participating agency is required to sign a written pledge that its program and facility will be operated in compliance with the Civil Rights laws. **Refer to Civil Rights Compliance Review form attached.**

Nondiscrimination Assurances

All printed materials must include this benefit/services statement:

"Rules for acceptance in the program are the same for everyone without regard to race, color, national origin, age, sex, or handicap."

Programs which are chartered as "rehabilitative", etc....for one gender may note this fact on any brochures; however, the benefit/services statement above may not be changed.

A nondiscrimination poster developed by the USDA (available from the Federal Food Commodities Program) and entitled ".....And Justice for All" must be prominently displayed.

Every agency must annually inform its public of the availability of USDA food. Each announcement must contain the benefits/services statement quoted above and an assurance of nondiscrimination which states that the program and facility are being operated in compliance with Civil Rights laws. For example, a charitable institution such as a religious affiliated soup kitchen might inform social service agencies and church members through the use of church bulletins and other announcements. Upon request, any agency must make public the information about Civil Rights requirements and the procedures for filing a complaint.

In geographical areas where most people do not speak English, translations of Civil Rights policies are required.

Filing Complaints

A written or verbal complaint must be forwarded to the Federal Food Commodities Program or to the Supervisor of School Food Services, Department of Education (for NSLP participants, including summer feeding programs). The complaint must include enough information for the appropriate government agency to determine the identity of the agency and/or individual against whom the complaint is directed. It must also indicate any possibility of a Civil Rights violation. Anonymous complaints are to be handled like any other complaint. All complaints must be filed within 180 days of their occurrence.

In the event that a complainant makes a verbal allegation and will not put the complaint in writing, the person to whom the allegations are made must write up the complaint. Every effort should be made to have the complainant provide the following information:

- Name, address, telephone number, or other means of contacting the complainant.
- Specific location and name of the agency.
- ♦ Nature of the incident(s) or action(s) that led the complainant to believe that discrimination was a factor.
- ♦ Basis on which the complainant believes that discrimination exists; that is, race, color, national origin, gender, age, or disability.
- ♦ Names, titles, and addresses of persons who may have knowledge of the alleged discriminatory action(s).
- ◆ Date(s) during which the alleged discriminatory action(s) occurred, or if still persisting, the duration of such action(s).

Reporting Requirements

Agencies distributing USDA donated food must prepare a number of reports, forms, and inventories to comply with federal regulations. All requests for information are sent with a cover letter which explains exactly what needs to be done and when.

Agency Reviews

Periodically, each agency will be subject to a compliance review. A representative from the Federal Food Commodities Program will make an on-site visit to determine whether or not an agency is complying with federal regulations. Review highlights are as follows:

- 1. Verify that written contract exists and that all information is current.
- 2. Monitor participation data.
- 3. Verify compliance with civil rights provisions.
- 4. Review of all complaints.
- 5. Review of storage facilities.
 - a. Ensure that storage facility is free from rodent, bird, insect and other animal infestation.
 - b. Ensure that RAs have adequate handling and storage facilities for food ordered.
 - c. Verify that food is safeguarded against theft, spoilage or other loss.
 - d. Verify that foods are maintained at proper storage temperatures.
 - e. Verify that foods are stocked and spaced so that USDA foods are readily identified.
 - f. Verify that donated food is stored off the floor to allow for adequate ventilation.
 - g. Ensure that all required Federal, State and local health inspections and approvals are obtained.
- 6. Ensure that agencies take a physical inventory annually and reconcile it with inventory records.
- 7. Ensure that accurate and complete records are maintained.
 - a. Receipt, distribution/use and inventory of donated foods.
 - b. Receipt, distribution/use and inventory of end products processed from donated foods.
 - c. Funds which arise from the operation of the program.
- 8. Verify annually that all ERA's have maintained eligibility to receive donated food by checking the IRS revocation list.
- 9. All eligible ERA's and sub-ERAs must be in compliance with federal audit requirements. Eligibility is determined in 2 CFR 200.501(c).

Civil Rights Compliance Review

A Civil Right Compliance Review is completed for each agency. The form varies depending on the type of agency; however, generally speaking, it addresses admissions and operating policies, recruiting practices, fees and pricing, and public notices. Child nutrition programs should call (302) 739-4717 for information; other agencies, (302) 838-8061.

Food Distribution Program Review

Each recipient agency is expected to meet specific criteria in order to participate in the Federal Food Commodities Program. During the on-site visit, the state representative will complete a **Food Distribution Program Review**. This checklist of requirements makes sure that certain conditions are met in three broad areas:

- There must be a current agreement between the state and the agency, signed by an appropriate official. Contracts between recipient agencies and food management companies are reviewed to make sure they are in order.
- ♦ The recipient agency must meet strict standards for handling and storing food, including proper temperature control, air circulation, stacking, food usage and cleanliness. (Review the "Storage and Handling" section.) The state representative also scrutinizes the disposition of out-of-condition foods and the way that food losses, if any, were handled. They must comply with federal regulations.
- ◆ Each agency must keep up-to-date and complete records concerning the distribution of USDA food. The state representative makes sure that accurate inventories of food on hand are maintained, that food receipts and other documentation are in order, and that the agency is keeping records for the required period. The state representative will examine the inventory.

FORMS

On the following pages are samples of many forms that are used by the Federal Food Commodities Program to administer the USDA Food Program. Not all forms are used by all agencies. Some of these forms can be duplicated for your use (e.g., loss forms, transfer forms, perpetual inventories).

In addition to these forms, there are annual agreements, Civil Rights Assurances, Food Preference Reports and school lunch data. To save space, they have not been included in this manual.

GLOSSARY

AMS: Agricultural Marketing Service

Agreement: Contract between State of Delaware and a recipient agency. The RA agrees to abide by USDA regulations and policies before receiving donated food.

Allocation: An offering of commodities (donated foods) to a recipient agency.

Arrival Date: Date a shipment of donated food arrives at the State warehouse.

Bonus Food: Food not charged to entitlement funds.

Child Nutrition (CN): Refers collectively to the four programs authorized under Section 13 of the National School Lunch Act. They are National School Lunch Program (NSLP), the School Breakfast Program (SBP), the Summer Food Service Program (SFSP), and the Child and Adult Care Program (CACFP).

CN Label: A special USDA symbol of approval of a food product. It shows that the USDA has determined that a single serving of a manufacturer's food product makes a specified contribution to the child nutrition meal pattern requirement.

Claim Determination: Review of an RA's donated food loss to determine liability.

Commodity: A food purchased by the USDA for use in various federal nutrition programs; a donated food. Also known as USDA Foods.

Commodity Acceptability Report: (Also known as Food Preference Report.) A State of Delaware report which advises the USDA of the RA's preferences for: certain foods, kinds of packaging, container sizes and

quantities that could be used in one year. The report aids the Distributing Agency in determining which foods to accept. Delaware surveys most agencies.

Commodity Assistance Level: The dollar amount of donated food that the USDA provides under federal laws. It is adjusted annually.

Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC): A USDA agency which provides price support to producers of agricultural commodities with loans, direct purchases, and other means. Grains and dairy, peanut, and oil products are price support commodities.

Commodity Fact Sheet: USDA information about a particular product.

Contract Value of Donated Foods: The price set by the USDA for a commodity. This price reflects the USDA's cost to buy the food, plus transportation and processing costs.

Contracting Agency: The State of Delaware, Federal Food Commodities Program (FFCP). It signs contracts with food processors.

Department (USDA): The United States Department of Agriculture.

Direct Delivery: The delivery of a commodity directly to the state warehouse or to a processor.

Disasters: Natural events (hurricanes, tornadoes, storms, floods, high water, wind-driven water, tidal waves, earthquakes, drought, and fires), pandemics or man-made events (explosions, fires, riots, nuclear and chemical contamination) which cause the

USDA to approve emergency feeding programs.

Disaster Organizations: Organizations authorized by federal or state officials to assist disaster victims.

Disaster Victims: Persons who are, because of natural or man-made disasters, in need of food assistance.

Distributor: An independent commercial food purveyor or handler that sells, bills, stores, and delivers food to an agency.

Distributing Agency (DA or SDA): The state agency that is responsible for the distribution of USDA foods. Delaware's DA is the Federal Food Commodities Program of the Government Support Services Division of the Office of Management and Budget.

Donated Food (DF): Foods purchased by the USDA for use in various federal nutrition programs.

End Product: Food produced by a processor using a specific quantity of USDA donated food.

Entitlement/Entitlement Funds: The level of food assistance provided to the State of Delaware. It is set by the USDA.

Entitlement Food: USDA Commodity foods which are "charged" to an agency's account or entitlement. Bonus foods of any kind do not reduce the entitlement funds.

Federal Food Commodities Program: The program that administers the distribution of USDA commodities, which belongs to the Government Support Services Division of the Office of Management and Budget.

Fee-for-Service: A method by which an agency buys processed food from a processor. The price per case (or per pound) of processed food represents the commercial processor's costs of ingredients other than USDA donated food, plus labor, packaging and overhead. Used primarily for meat and poultry.

Food and Nutrition Service Regional Office (FNSRO): Regional Office of the Food and Nutrition Service of the Department of Agriculture. Delaware is in the Mid-Atlantic Region.

FIFO: First In, First Out. A storage practice that requires the oldest food to be used first.

Food Alert System: Formal USDA instructions to handle food emergencies.

Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS): USDA agency which inspects the wholesomeness of food products, not including grains or dairy products.

Food Preference Report: See Commodity Acceptability Report.

Food Service Management Company: A commercial or nonprofit organization which an agency may contract to manage its food service.

Free on Board (F.O.B.) Destination: A method of pricing in which a vendor includes the transportation charges to a specific destination in the bid price of a product. The vendor is then responsible for arranging and paying for transportation.

Free on Board (F.O.B.) Origin: A method of pricing in which a vendor excludes the transportation charges in the bid price of a

product. Transportation arrangements are made and paid for by the USDA.

Indirect Sales: Sales by a commercial food processor to an agency through a distributor, broker, or other middleperson.

Inventory: Inventory is the donated food that belongs to an RA, including food on hand and allocated food stored in a state warehouse.

Multi-State Processor: A multi-state food processor has contracts with more than one state or has contracts in a state other than the one in which its processing plant or business office is located.

National School Lunch Act: Law which authorized the National School Lunch Program, among others.

NSLP: National School Lunch Program.

Needy Persons: Needy persons are: 1) people who are in need of food assistance because of their economic status, 2) members of a household who are certified in need of food assistance, or 3) disaster victims.

Nonprofit School Food Service: Food services which operate solely for the benefit of school children, with any revenue reinvested in the food service operation itself.

Nutrition Services Incentive Program (NSIP): A U.S. Department of Health and Human Services program which provides persons over 60 and their spouses with nutritionally sound meals through the meals-on-wheels program or in senior citizens centers and similar settings. The USDA contributes commodity foods and/or cash to these programs.

Offer and Acceptance System: The method by which the Food Distribution Section offers donated food to an RA in advance of the shipment date. The RA, in turn, accepts only the amount and varieties it needs.

Out-of-Condition Food: USDA donated food that has deteriorated in quality so that it is unsafe for human consumption.

Performance Bond: An instrument (contract) written by a surety company which guarantees performance and supply of end products by a processor under the terms of a food processing contract.

PAL: Planned Assistance Level. The dollar value of an agency's entitlement.

Processing: Converting USDA donated food or foods into processed foods (end products) by a commercial food processor. Also refers to the repackaging of foods.

Processing Contract: Agreement between a federal or state agency and a commercial food processor to convert USDA donated food to a more usable or convenient form. Also known as State Participation Agreement (SPA)

Processor: A commercial organization, other than a food service management company, which converts USDA donated foods into end products.

Recipient Agency (RA): An organization that receives donated foods. Agencies can include summer camps, charitable institutions, disaster relief organizations, school food authorities, public and private schools, food banks, and elderly nutrition programs.

Refund Method: A method by which an agency buys processed food from a processor or distributor. The RA pays full price for the product and then claims a refund from the processor.

Regulations: Federal Regulatory Authority which governs the USDA donated food programs.

School Breakfast Program (SBP): A federally subsidized breakfast program available to schools. Although USDA commodities are not provided for the School Breakfast Program, donated foods available for school lunches may be used for a breakfast program.

School Food Authority (SFA): The administrative body that is approved to operate a nonprofit school food service or to manage the National School Lunch Program. A School Food Authority may be responsible for more than one school.

School Year (SY): Twelve month period between July 1 and June 30.

Section 6: Refers to Section 6 of the National School Lunch Act, as amended, which authorizes the USDA purchase of foods for distribution to schools and institutions participating in Child Nutrition programs. Section 6 specifies the level of assistance or dollar amount that is provided.

Section 32: Refers to Section 32 of the Agricultural Act of 1935, as amended, which authorizes the USDA purchase and distribution of perishable commodities in order to remove surplus and stabilize farm prices.

Section 416: Refers to Section 416 of the Agricultural Act of 1949, as amended, which

authorizes the purchase and distribution of commodities in order to support farm prices.

State Distributing Agency (SDA or DA): Federal Food Commodities Program (FFCP), Government Support Services, Office of Management and Budget, State of Delaware. Also called Distributing Agency.

Surveys: Method used by Food Distribution Section to gather information about foods.

TEFAP: The Emergency Food Assistance Program. It makes food available to agencies that provide foods to the homeless or needy. These commodities can be used for congregate feeding or distributed for household use.

USDA: United States Department of Agriculture.

Vendor: An organization offering a product or service to a customer.

Product Complaint Form

<u>Instructions:</u> Food supervisor or recipient agency/district/school should complete this form and submit directly to the Federal Food Commodities Program of the Government Support Services Division as soon as possible after problem is discovered.

GOVERNMENT SUPPORT SERVICES FEDERAL FOOD COMMODITIES PROGRAM P. O. BOX 299 DELAWARE CITY, DE 19706

Tel.: (302) 834-4512 or (302) 838-8061 Fax: (302) 836-7642

DATE:	STATE: <u>Delaware</u>
AGENCY/DISTRICT	LOCATION OF COMMODITY
CONTACT PERSON:	TELEPHONE
DATE PRODUCT DISCOVE	ED OUT OF CONDITION:
PRODUCT	CONTRACT #
PACKING DATE	CAN CODE (for canned products)
OTHER CARTON IDENTIFIC	ATION (i.e., Lot #, Commodity Code)
DATE PRODUCT RECEIVE	FROM GOVERNMENT SUPPORT SERVICES
DATE PRODUCT RECEIVE	AT COOKING FACILITY, IF DIFFERENT
PROBLEM (Condition of Cor	modity)
LOCATION OF COMMODIT	
	DDITY TO BE OUT OF CONDITION? (i.e., Board of Health, State Desirt istrict/Agency Staff):
AMOUNT RECEIVED	AMOUNT USED BALANCE ON HAND
AMOUNT ASSUMED UNUS	BLE OR QUESTIONABLE
	IODITY AFTER RECEIPT IN AGENCY/DISTRICT (type of storage a
ANY OTHER INFORMATION VENDOR LIABILITY IS INVO	THAT WILL HELP IDENTIFY THE PRODUCT AND ESTABLISH IF LVED

SAMPLE:

FEDERAL FOOD COMMODITIES PROGRAM P. O. BOX 299 DELAWARE CITY, DE 19706 Tel.: (302) 834-4512 or (302) 838-8061

Fax: (302) 836-7642

DATE: 1/29/2005 AGENCY/DISTRICT: Milford School District

CONTACT PERSON: Mary Lynn Jackson TELEPHONE: 302-422-1637

DATE PRODUCT DISCOVERED OUT OF CONDITION: 1/29/2005

PRODUCT: Shredded Lite Mozzarella Cheese CONTRACT NUMBER:

PACKING DATE: 6/10/2004 CAN CODE (for canned products):

OTHER CARTON IDENTIFICATION: Lot # 2020162F 7027230143 0162

DATE PRODUCT RECEIVED FROM FEDERAL FOOD COMMODITIES PROGRAM: 11/2004

DATE PRODUCT RECEIVED AT COOKING FACILITY IF DIFFERENT FROM ABOVE: 1/05/2005

PROBLEM (Condition of the commodity): Product was molded

LOCATION OF COMMODITY: Milford Middle School

WHO DETERMINED COMMODITY TO BE OUT OF CONDITION? (BOARD OF HEALTH/STATE DEPT. OF AGRICULTURE, STAFF PERSON, DISTRICT/AGENCY STAFF): Staff person

AMOUNT RECEIVED: 8 cases AMOUNT USED: 2 cases BALANCE ON HAND: 0

AMOUNT ASSUMED UNUSABLE OR QUESTIONABLE: 6 cases

PROTECTION GIVEN COMMODITY AFTER RECEIPT IN AGENCY/DISTRICT (TYPE OF STORAGE AND TEMPERATURE OF STORAGE AREA): Walk-in Cooler, 40 Degrees

AND TEMPERATURE OF STORAGE AREA): Walk-III Cooler, 40 Degrees

ANY OTHER INFORMATION THAT WILL HELP IDENTIFY THE PRODUCT AND ESTABLISH IF VENDOR LIABILITY IS INVOLVED:

^{**} Item was destroyed

STATE OF DELAWARE FEDERAL FOOD COMMODITIES PROGRAM ELIGIBILITY TO TAKE FOOD HOME

funded by USDA.

Revised 2/26/2024

Name:	# People in Household:
Address:	

This table shows an annual gross income for each family size. If your household income is at or below the income listed for the number of people in your household, you are eligible to receive food

Household	Annual	Monthly	Weekly Income
Size	Income	Income	
1	27 , 861	2,322	536
2	37 , 814	3,152	728
3	47 , 767	3,981	919
4	57 , 720	4,810	1,110
5	67 , 673	5,640	1,302
6	77 , 626	6,469	1,493
7	87 , 579	7,299	1,685
8	97 , 532	8,128	1,876
For each additional family member add:	+9,953	+830	+192

() Income is less than listed on above income scale.

You are also	eligible to receive	food from TEFAP	if vour household	
			If you participate i	n
one of these	programs, please pl	ace a check next	to the program.	
	(

SNAP (FOOD STAMPS) ____ Medicaid ___ GA ___

In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil rights regulations and policies, the USDA, its Agencies, offices, and employees, and institutions participating in or administering USDA programs are prohibited from discriminating based on race, color, national origin, sex (including gender identity and sexual orientation), disability, age, or reprisal or retaliation for prior civil rights activity in any program or activity conducted or

Persons with disabilities who require alternative means of communication for program information (e.g. Braille, large print, audiotape, American Sign Language, etc.), should contact the Agency (State or local) where they applied for benefits. Individuals who

are deaf, hard of hearing or have speech disabilities may contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8339. Additionally, program information may be made available in languages other than English.

To file a program complaint of discrimination, complete the <u>USDA</u> <u>Program Discrimination Complaint Form</u>, (AD-3027) found online at: http://www.ascr.usda.gov/complaint filing cust.html, and at any USDA office, or write a letter addressed to USDA and provide in the letter all of the information requested in the form. To request a copy of the complaint form, call (866) 632-9992. Submit your completed form or letter to USDA by:

- (1) mail: U.S. Department of Agriculture Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights 1400 Independence Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20250-9410;
- (2) fax: (202) 690-7442; or
- (3) email: program.intake@usda.gov.

This institution is an equal opportunity provider.

Please read the following statement carefully. Then sign the form and write in today's date.

I certify that my annual gross income is at or below the income listed on this form for households with the same number of people as my household, OR that my household participates in the program that I have checked on this form. I also certify that, as of today, my household lives in the area served by the Delaware Emergency Food Assistance Program. This certification form is being completed in connection with the receipt of Federal assistance. Program officials may verify what I have certified to be true. I understand that making a false certification may result in having to pay the State for the value of the food improperly issued to me and may subject me to criminal prosecution under State and Federal law.

(Signature)	(Date)
(Proxy Signature)	(Date)
Proxy Address	

Customer Discrimination Complaint Form

<u>Instructions:</u> Complete this form and submit directly to the Federal Food Commodities Program of the Government Support Services Division as soon as possible after the problem occurs.

GOVERNMENT SUPPORT SERVICES FEDERAL FOOD COMMODITIES PROGRAM P. O. BOX 299 DELAWARE CITY, DE 19706

Tel.: (302) 834-4512 or (302) 838-8061 Fax: (302) 836-7642

DATE		STATE <u>Delaware</u>
AGENCY	/LO	CATION
CONTAC	CT PERSON/COMPLAINANT	
TELEPH	ONE	
ADDRES	SS	
BASIS UI	PON WHICH COMPLAINANT BELIE	EVES DISCRIMINATION EXISTS (Check all that apply):
	Race	Age
	Color	National Origin
	Gender	National Origin Disability
	Contact	Disability
	CTOR (Use reverse side, if necessa	
DATE DU	JRING WHICH ALLEGED DISCRIN	MINATORY ACTION(S) OCCURRED, OR IF STILL ACTION(S)
		dge of the alleged discriminatory action: Address

Civil Rights Compliance Review Form

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE	1. REVIEW MADE BY		2. TYPE OF IN	STITUTIO			ED OMB NO. 4
POOD AND NOTRITION SERVICE CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLIANCE REVIEW	OSTATE		© ¢öARecti items I-6. I	ONAL (Co. 0-12 and 13	neplete 5-16)	☐ MEDICA itens 1-6	S. 10-12 & 14-15
(INSTITUTIONS) FNS INSTR. 112-2	☐ REGIONAL OFFI		RESIDENT		(edicare		SIDENTIAL
NSTRUCTIONS: The original and pink copy should be sent to FN Regional Administrator. The yellow copy should be retained in the fles of the State Agency.	S	Islander, B IMPORTA	Y is defined as lack (not of H NT: Items 6, 9 stages) Do not	iapamic o A & 9B M	ri <i>g</i> ia) and UST be an	l <i>Hispanic _:</i> swered NUM	ve, Asian or Pa ERICALLY.
FACILITY REVIEWED (Skip one block between words, Abbreviate if namprovided)	me & too long for block	4. NAME A	ND TITLE OF A	ESPONSIB	LÉ OFFICIA	L INTERVIE	WED
NAME							
CITY		5. NAME AI "Same at	NO ADDRESS C 3")	F SPONSO	RING AGE	NCY //f same a	ış izem 3. print
(Use standard Post Office two-letter abbreviation)	STATE ZIP CODE]					
Zip Code MUST be included.	ASIAN	<u> </u>			,		
FICIARIES OR PARTICIPANTS BY RACE (Leave box(es) blank for these race(s) not included.) ALASKAN NATIVE PARTICIPANTS BY RACE (ALASKAN NATIVE PARTICIPANTS BY RACE)	OR (Nos of	BLACK Hispanic origi	in) HISP/	ANIC	(Not of Hi	HITE Ispanic origini	TOTAL
		1 1			<u> </u>		
7. DOES THE INSTITUTION LIMIT OR DENY ADMISSION RECAUSE OF NATIONAL ORIGIN? (2016 question must be arrived of the efficient. It is \$\infty\$ ON O	not the reviewer's opinion.)	NOTE: If ite	M BA is "yes" a BC apply to the s	nd the organizate or natu	hization is st pnal structur	ata or national re, If item 8A i	inscope, then ite s "No", skip to le
A. IS MEMBERSHIP IN ANY ORGANIZATION A PREREQUISITE FOR A	ADMISSION?	88. IF "YE	S", GIVE NAME	OF ORGA	NIZATION		
C. IS MEMBERSHIP IN THE REQUIRED ORGANIZATION OPEN TO AL	L MINORITY GROUPS?	30. DOES 1	THE ORGANIZA	TION HAV	E MINORIT	TY MEMBERS	,
☐ YES ☐ NO		1] YES	CN		
A. NUMBER OF PERSONS REQUEST- NUMBER WHO ING ADMISSION OR REFERRED MINORITY GRO	WERE DUP	ACCEP	R OF PERSONS TED IN PRIOR	3		NUMBER W	
IN PRIOR 12 MONTHS. MEMBERS	MISSION? (C.K. age, inrelligen	12 MON		==-		MEMBERS.	
O. HAS THE INSTITUTION ANNOUNCED PUBLICLY THAT ADMISSION REGARDLESS OF RACE, COLOR, OR NATIONAL ORIGIN? (It must annually,)		COPIES	OF ANY BROC MISSION TO FI	HURES, N	EWS ARTIC	LES. BULLET	USED AND ATT INS. ETC. FOR dare(s) and desc
0. IS THERE ANY SEPARATION BY RACE, COLOR, Use only OR NATIONAL ORIGIN? Item 6 (If "yes" explain in "remarks") A thru	one race is shown in indicate "no" for D	WITHOU	L SERVICES A UT REGARD TO ial and recreation) RACE, CO	LOR OR NA	ATIONAL OR	BY ALL PERSO
(A) IN EATING AREA?	· ·			1 YES	□ N:		
(8) IN SERVING LINES? ☐ YE (C) IN SEATING ARRANGEMENTS? ☐ YE		12. IS THE OISPLA	USDA'S NONDI YED?	SCRIMINA	TION POST	'ER " . , . ANC	JUSTICE FOR
(D) IN ASSIGNMENT OF EATING PERIOD?			-	Yes	C 10	0	
 DO BROCHUPES, PAMPHLETS, OR OTHER PUBLICATIONS USED B TO PUBLICIZE ITS PROGRAM CONTAIN A NONDISCRIMINATION S (The statement must read "rulet for acceptance and participation in the p 	TATEMENT?		ATICIPATION I				UDING DENIAL
for everyone without regard to race, color or national origin".) Yes NO			c	YES		0	
5. IS THE INSTITUTION RECEIVING FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTAN FEDERAL AGENCY? (If yes, list name of federal agency.)	NCE FROM ANOTHER	IN THIS APPEAR OF 1964	REVIEW AND TO BE IN COM	PERSONAI MPLIANCE Cate under i	LOBSERVA WITH TITU TMOTES: (1)	TION, DOES E VI OF THE What the area	ATION CONTAI THE INSTITUTI CIVIL RIGHTS of noncompliance
		/-		1 785	□ N		r
EMARKS (Use this space if any liem needs further comments, Attach addition	ional sheet(s) if necessary.)				and angles of the angles of th		
DATE AGENCY	SIGN. of fedi	ATURE & TIT	LE OF REVIEW	JEP (If join	at federal/sta	ite review, only	v signature and ti

34

Directions to the FOOD WAREHOUSE

STATE OF DELAWARE
Federal Food Commodities Program
2420 Old Battery Lane
Grounds of Fort DuPont
Delaware City, DE 19706

Phone: (302) 834-4512 or (302) 838-8061 FAX: (302) 836-7642

From the NORTH (via I-95 or Rt. 13):

- Follow Interstate 95 South to the Route 1/Christiana Mall exit 4A
- Follow Route 1 South to the Delaware City/Route 72 exit 152 (last exit before new St. George's bridge). Turn left at light at top of ramp onto Rt. 72 South
- Follow 72 South, which becomes Route 9 South (no turn) chemical co.'s and refinery on left
- Continue south on Rt. 9 into Delaware City. Continue straight through traffic light
- Go over a **small** iron bridge and **immediately** bear to right. Take your first left (driving under the Reedy Point Bridge) onto grounds of Gov. Bacon and take the first right turn to Food Warehouse *

From the SOUTH (via I-95 North):

- Take exit for 896 South at Newark, DE
- Follow 896 S and turn left onto Route 40 East
- At Fox Run (between Apts. & Shopping Center) turn onto Rt. 72 South
- Follow 72 South, which becomes Route 9 South (no turn) past several chemical companies and large refinery on left
- Continue south on Rt. 9 into Delaware City. Continue straight through traffic light
- Go over a small iron bridge and immediately bear to right. Take your first left (driving under the Reedy Point Bridge) onto grounds of Gov. Bacon and take the first right turn to Food Warehouse *

From the SOUTH (via Rt. 301 or Rt. 13):

- Take Rt. 301 and turn right onto 896 South toward Rt. 13. Cross over Rt. 13 and take Rt. 1 North
- Take the first exit after new St. George's Bridge for **Delaware City** and bear right onto **Route 72 South**
- Follow 72 South, which becomes **Route 9 South** (no turn) chemical co.'s and refinery on left
- Continue south on Rt. 9 into Delaware City. Continue straight through traffic light
- Go over a **small** iron bridge and **immediately** bear to right. Take your first left (driving under the Reedy Point Bridge) onto grounds of Gov. Bacon and take the first right turn to Food Warehouse *

Any questions regarding these directions? Call us at (302) 838-8062 or (302) 838-8063. To contact warehouse before 7:30 a.m., call (302) 838-8065. **Deliveries only accepted from 6:00 a.m. - 1:30 p.m., Mon-Fri, excluding holidays.**

^{*} Our main office is the first white one-story building on the right. The (visibly tall and large) Food Warehouse is located directly behind the main office. If you come in the night before, you must turn LEFT immediately after you cross small iron bridge and take an immediate right. Go straight through at stop sign and curve around to warehouse dock (the other gate is closed at night). Drivers can arrive night before and rest in lot.

Loss of USDA Donated Foods: Loss By Fire

Instructions: In case of loss of commodities due to fire, TEFAP and NSIP Agencies should complete this form and submit it to the following for inventory adjustment: Government Support Services Division, Federal Food Commodities Program, P.O. Box 299, Delaware City, DE 19706.

A. Itemize by commodity showing quantity for each, and show total value of loss for each commodity:

Value/Unit

Total Value (\$)

Quantity

Commodity

Gr	and Tota	al			
В.	1.	Time and place	ce of loss	re lost and apparent causes	
				o cause of fire	
			g possession of commoditie		
				ires were employed?	
		damage? Yes	s No	es No Was there any	/ smoke and water
	6.	Type of storage	ge structure (brick, frame, r	netal, etc.)	
		claim determi	dence and/or documentatio nation? If so, please attach	n relating to loss that would า.	be helpful in making
C.	Insuran				
				ding insured? Yes No	
	2.	If building cor Yes No		ISDA donated commodities	covered?
D.			ed or lost commodity:		
				es No If so, by whom	
				No If yes, submit co	py.
			nmodities salvaged? Yes _		
			oney realized from sale of d		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	5.	Was damage	d commodity destroyed? Yo	es No If so, by whos	e authority?
E.				vas caused by arsonist, was	arsonist apprehended?
_			overy for value of loss poss		
г.			sence or absence of fault o	= =	
	1. 2	Usys you sht	ake the position you do?	documentation to support y	vour position? Vos. No
	۷.	nave you obt	ained Sufficient evidence &	documentation to support y	our position? Yes No
	3.			e amount of claim established?	
Ag	ency				
Sin	ınature			Date	
OiG	ji iature _			Date	

Loss of USDA Donated Foods: Loss By Theft

Instructions: In case of loss of commodities due to theft, TEFAP and NSIP Agencies should complete this form and submit it to the following for action: Federal Food Commodities Program, P.O. Box 299, Delaware City, DE 19706.

A. Itemize by commodity showing quantity for each, and show total value of loss for each commodity:

Commodity		Quantity	Value/Unit	Total Value (\$)		
Gr	and Total					
_	D		5 ()			
В.	Place of loss	12.1 PC	Date loss discovered			
Ċ.	Circumstances unde	er which commodities we	ere stolen			
	Custodian of commodities at time of theft					
	Security pred					
	a.	Who had access? What type of locks or loc	. 1	<u> </u>		
_		Was there a watchman	on duty?			
υ.	Report of loss:	non outs of to malica 2 Van	NI -			
		reported to police? Yes _				
		ake a report? Yes No				
		prehended? Yes No _				
_	•	overy of loss possible? Y	es No			
⊏.	Insurance:	ouranaa? Vaa	No			
	1. Was there in	surance? Yescommodities covered? `	NO No			
_						
г.		resence or absence of fa take the position you do?				
		tained sufficient evidence				
	Yes No		e & documentation to sup	port your position:		
		or fault is found, what is	the amount of claim esta	ahlishad? \$		
		basis used in computing				
Δα		s basis used in computing				
лy						
Sic	ınature		Date			
٠.٤						

Loss of USDA Donated Foods: Loss By Refrigerator/Freezer Failure

Instructions: In case of loss of commodities due to refrigeration/freezer failure, TEFAP and NSIP Agencies should complete this form and submit it to the following for inventory adjustment: Federal Food Commodities Program, P.O. Box 299, Delaware City, DE 19706.

A. Itemize by commodity showing quantity for each, and show total value of loss for each commodity:

Value/Unit

Quantity

Commodity

Total Value (\$)

Grand To					
В.	B. Circumstances under which the commodities were lost and apparent causes:				
		and place of loss			
			n relation to cause of fire		
			commodities at time of lo		
		•	tion measures were emp		
			flames? Yes No V	vas there any smoke	
		er damage? Yes No _			
		of storage structure (brid		as that would be	
	•		cumentation relating to lo ation? If so, please attacl		
C	Insurance:	i making cialin determina	ation? If so, please attach	1.	
0.		vas insurance was only	the building insured? Yes	: No	
		•	were USDA donated cor		
	Yes N		word dob't donated dor	minounded develou.	
D.		of damaged or lost comr	noditv:		
			cted? Yes No If so	b, by whom?	
		, ,	<u> </u>	· • <u></u>	
	2. Were con	ndemnation reports mad	e? Yes No If yes,	submit copy.	
	3. Were an	y commodities salvaged	? Yes No		
	4. Amount	of money realized from s	sale of damaged commod	ity:	
	\$				
			yed? Yes No If so	o, by whose	
	authority				
E.			fire. If fire was caused by		
_			overy for value of loss po		
F.	•	-	nce of fault or negligence:		
		ou take the position you			
			ence & documentation to	support your position?	
	Yes _ N		est is the amount of claim	aatabliahad?	
			at is the amount of claim		
	Φ	What was the basis	used to compute the clair	11 ?	
Agency					
.go.loy					
Signature			Date		

Loss of USDA Donated Foods: Loss By Infestation/Spoilage/Contamination

Instructions: In case of loss of commodities due to infestation, spoilage or contamination, TEFAP and NSIP Agencies should complete this form and submit it to the following for action: Federal Food Commodities Program, P.O. Box 299, Delaware City, DE 19706.

A. Itemize by commodity showing quantity for each, and show total value of loss for each commodity:

Com	modity	Quantity	value/Unit	i otai value (\$)		
Grand To	tal					
В.	Place of loss	<u> </u>	Date loss discovere	d		
			at time of loss?			
D . Apparent cause of loss:						
	 Insect or 	rodent (give details)				
E.	Storage con	ditions (explain type of st				
	 Was com 	imodity stored on pallets	? Yes No Condition	n of pallets		
	Was the	re adequate air space be	tween rows and walls? Y	'es No		
	Yes	No If no, what was us	sed?			
F.	If commodity	was stored in a public w	arehouse, was there a s	torage agreement?		
G.	Disposition of	of damaged or lost comm	odity:			
1. Insect or rodent (give details)						
	whom?_					
	2. Were co	ndemnation reports made	e? Yes No If yes,	submit copy.		
		of money realized from s	ale of damaged commod	ity:		
						
	5. Was dan	naged commodity destro	yed? Yes No If so	o, by whose authority?		
	D. Apparent cause of loss: 1. Insect or rodent (give details) 2. Other (give details) E. Storage conditions (explain type of storage) 1. Was commodity stored on pallets? Yes No Condition of pallets 2. Was there adequate air space between rows and walls? Yes No 3. Was first-in, first-out (FIFO) observed? Yes No 4. Was commodity examined and/or inspected upon receipt? Yes No 5. Was there a regular extermination and/or rodent control service employed? Yes No If no, what was used? F. If commodity was stored in a public warehouse, was there a storage agreement? Yes No If yes, what were the liability provisions? G. Disposition of damaged or lost commodity: 1. Was damaged commodity inspected? Yes No If yes, by whom? 2. Were condemnation reports made? Yes No If yes, submit copy. 3. Were any commodities salvaged? Yes No If yes, submit copy. 4. Amount of money realized from sale of damaged commodity: \$					
Н.						
	1. Why do y	ou take the position you	do?			
	2. Have you	J optained suπicient evid	ence & documentation to	support your position?		
			-4:- 4b			
	\$	what was the basis t	used to compute the clair	n?		
			_			
\aencv						
			 Date			

Perpetual Inventory Form for USDA Commodities

FOOD ITEM: UNIT SIZE:						
		QL	IANTITY OF FO	OOD		
DATE	RECORD OF ACTION	(Cases	(Cases, Cans, Pounds, Etc.)			
		Received	Withdrawn	Balance		
			-			